
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

:
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :

:
v. :

: Criminal No. 09-150 (RBW)
WALTER KENDALL MYERS, :
 a/k/a Agent 202 :

:
and :

:
GWENDOLYN STEINGRABER MYERS, : [PUBLIC VERSION]
a/k/a Agent 123 and Agent E-634 :

:
Defendants :

:

GOVERNMENT’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR REVOCATION
OR AMENDMENT OF THE MAGISTRATE’S DETENTION ORDER

I. INTRODUCTION

The defendants, Walter Kendall Myers (Kendall Myers) and Gwendolyn Steingraber

Myers (Gwendolyn Myers), have been charged in a 5-count indictment arising out of their

activities as clandestine agents of the Republic of Cuba (Cuba):  (1) one count of conspiracy to

be illegal agents of, and to communicate classified information to, Cuba in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§ 371; (2) one count of being illegal agents of Cuba in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 951; and (3) three

counts of wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343.   Further, the United States seeks forfeiture

from Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers of over $1.7 million representing the salary that Kendall

Myers received from the United States between 1985 and 2007 while working under false

pretenses as a Department of State instructor and intelligence analyst when he was, in fact, a

clandestine foreign agent acting at the direction and control of Cuba.

 These are extremely serious charges that implicate the national security of the United
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States.  The Indictment essentially alleges that Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers were a husband-

and-wife team of clandestine Cuban agents for three decades whose assignment was to gain

access to the United States’ most sensitive classified information and transmit it to the Cuban

Intelligence Service (CuIS).  As found by Magistrate Judge Facciola ,following a detention

hearing on June 10, 2009,  the government’s case against the Myers is exceptionally strong. 

Detention Memorandum (Det. Memo.) at 14.   

The defendants seek by their present motion to overturn the Magistrate Judge’s

considered and well-reasoned June 10, 2009 Detention Memorandum and Order that they should

be held pending trial.   Most important to this Court’s resolution of the defense motion is the

Magistrate Judge’s finding that the Myers are plainly significant flight risks.  That finding cannot

be fairly gainsaid.   The Myers have admitted that they have employed false names and false

travel documents to travel clandestinely to Cuba in the past.  The government’s investigation has

uncovered that they have significant means to finance their escape from the United States now.  

Most importantly, the Myers have contemplated, and have taken affirmative steps to prepare for,

escape from the United States to Cuba if their activities on behalf of Cuba were discovered.  And

now, face with an Indictment that seeks their imprisonment for the rest of their lives for those

same activities, the defendants have a very strong motivation to flee to Cuba, the country that

they call “home.” 

If they are permitted to escape to Cuba – or even to the safe harbor of the Cuban Interests

Section located right here in Washington, D.C. – they will be gone for good.  The United States

has no extradition treaty with Cuba.  Indeed, it has not had diplomatic relations with Cuba for

over four decades.  Further, as recognized by Magistrate Judge Facciola in his Detention
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Memorandum, Cuba has “a powerful motivation” to repay they Myers for their loyal service to

its intelligence service and to assist them in their escape from the United States now that they

have been caught.  Detention Memorandum (Det. Memo.) at 16.  Because the Myers are plainly a

significant flight risk, the defense’s motion for revocation or amendment of the Magistrate

Judge’s Detention Memorandum and Order should be denied.  

II. LEGAL PRINCIPLES GOVERNING REQUESTS FOR DETENTION

When the government seeks to detain a defendant on the ground that he is a risk of flight

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3142(f)(2)(A), the government must demonstrate the defendant’s flight

risk only by a preponderance of the evidence.  United States v. Xulam, 84 F.3d 441, 442 (D.C.

Cir. 1996).  Moreover, at a detention hearing following indictment, the government may present

evidence by way of a proffer.  United States v. Smith, 79 F.3d 1208, 1209-10 (D.C. Cir. 1996).

Section 3142(g) lists four factors that guide a court’s detention decision: (1) the nature

and circumstances of the offense charged, including whether the offense is a crime of violence or

involves a narcotic drug; (2) the weight of the evidence against the defendant; (3) the history and

characteristics of the defendant; and (4) the nature and seriousness of the danger to any person or

the community that would be posed by the defendant’s release.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g).

III. FACTUAL PROFFER

As found by the Grand Jury and further supported by the attached affidavit in support of

the arrest of Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers (see Exhibit A hereto): 

A. Employment History and Biographical Information

Kendall Myers is a United States citizen born in 1937 in Washington, D.C.   He served in

the United States Army from January 1959 to March 1962 where he completed intensive
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communications training and served in the Army Security Agency.  In June of 1972, he earned a

Ph.D. from Johns Hopkins University, School of Advance International Studies (SAIS).  From in

or about 1971 to in or about 1977, he was an Assistant Professor at SAIS.  Thereafter, he

continued to teach at SAIS on a part-time basis in addition to other employment.  

Gwendolyn Myers is a United States citizen who was born in 1938.  She married Kendall

Myers on or about May 8, 1982.  Thereafter, she was employed by Riggs National Bank as an

Administrative Analyst in Management Information Systems. 

From in or about August 1977, through in or about March 1979, Kendall Myers was

employed as a contract instructor at the Department of State’s Foreign Service Institute (FSI), a

training and professional development institute for Department of State employees located in

Arlington, Virginia.   After living in South Dakota with Gwendolyn Myers from in or about 1979

until in or about 1980, Kendall Myers returned to Washington, D.C.  In or about August 1982,

Kendall Myers resumed employment as a contract instructor with FSI and held the title of

Chairperson for West European Studies.   On or about May 9, 1983, Kendall Myers applied for a

non-contractor, two-year appointment as a Training Instructor and Chairperson for West

European Studies at FSI.  On or about April 15, 1985, Kendall Myers was offered a two-year

appointment as a Training Instructor and subsequently, a second two-year appointment as an

Education Specialist at FSI, all while serving in a chair capacity in Western European Area

Studies.  

From at least August 1988 to October 1999, Kendall Myers, in addition to his FSI duties,

performed work on a periodic basis for the Department of State’s Bureau of Intelligence and

Research (INR).  INR is responsible for drawing on all-source intelligence to provide value-
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added independent analysis of events to policy makers at the Department of State.   Starting in

approximately October 1999, Kendall Myers began working full time at INR as the Acting

Director of the External Research Staff.  From approximately July 2001 to October 31, 2007,

Kendall Myers was a Senior Analyst for Europe for INR.   During his employment at INR in

various capacities, Kendall Myers specialized in intelligence analysis regarding European

matters.  He also served as a Special Assistant for Analyst Training and Development during that

time frame.

On October 31, 2007, Kendall Myers retired from the Department of State.  

B. The Republic of Cuba

Cuba is a communist country currently ruled by Raul Castro, the brother of Fidel Castro

who ruled Cuba from 1959 until 2007.  The Government of Cuba is an internationally recognized

foreign government and is listed in the Diplomatic List, published by the United States

Department of State, and in the Permanent Missions to the United Nations, published by the

United Nations, and its establishments in the United States are components thereof.

The Department of State has designated Cuba as a state sponsor of international terrorism

in its State Sponsors of Terrorism List (SSTL).   The United States does not currently maintain

diplomatic relations with the Government of Cuba  nor does it have an extradition treaty with

Cuba.   However, the Cuban Interests Section (CIS) in Washington, D.C., has been designated as

the official representative of the Cuban Government to the United States.   The CIS is located at

2630 16  Street, N.W., Washington, D.C., which is 2.6 miles from the Myers’ apartment onth

Cathedral Avenue, N.W.   By international agreement, the United States cannot enter the CIS

without the permission of Cuba.   See Exhibit B attached hereto. 
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C. Cuban Intelligence Activities in the United States

The Cuban Intelligence Service (CuIS) is a general term encompassing numerous Cuban

intelligence and counterintelligence entities.  It is charged with gathering worldwide intelligence

information of interest to Cuba and its allies.  The United States was, and continues to be, a

principal target for Cuba’s intelligence gathering.   CuIS has maintains a program aimed at

spotting and assessing persons within the United States academic community who may be

suitable for recruitment to serve a variety of roles on behalf of Cuba’s interests.   The most

important of these roles is that of agent – that is, a person who is not an officially recognized

employee of CuIS but who is aware that he or she is working for the service and is willing to

engage in clandestine operational activity, including intelligence gathering, at the direction, and

on behalf, of  CuIS.  

CuIS sometimes employs husband and wife “paired” agents to achieve its intelligence

goals in the United States.  Such CuIS husband and wife “paired” agents were revealed in the

investigation of the Miami network of CuIS agents in the case entitled United States v. Gerardo

Hernandez, et al., Cr. No. 98-721-CR-Lenard, and of Carlos Alvarez and Elsa Alvarez in the case

of United States v. Alvarez, 05-20943-CR-Moore, both arising in the Southern District of

Florida.    CuIS also provides false identity and travel documents for its agents to facilitate

clandestine travel and to facilitate flight from the United States in case of detection.

D. Clandestine Communication from CuIS to its Agents via Shortwave Radio

During the time frame described herein, CuIS often communicated with its clandestine

agents operating in the United States by broadcasting encrypted radio messages from Cuba on

certain high frequencies – that is, shortwave radio frequencies.  Under this method of
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communication, CuIS would broadcast a series of numbers on a particular short-wave frequency.  

The clandestine agent in the United States, monitoring the frequency on a shortwave radio, could

decode the seemingly random series of numbers by using a decryption program provided by

CuIS.  Once decoded, the text of the message would provide the agent with tasking for

intelligence gathering, and instructions about operational activities, including communication

plans and meets with CuIS handlers.  CuIS would also broadcast similar messages to its handlers.

This shortwave radio communication method was employed by some of the defendants

convicted of espionage on behalf of Cuba in the previously mentioned Hernandez case in the

Southern District of Florida, as well as by Ana Belen Montes and Carlos Alvarez and Elsa

Alvarez.

E. Kendall Myers and Gwendolyn Myers’ Affiliation with and Recruitment by
CuIS                                                                                                                        

Based on Department of State documents, in December 1978, Kendall Myers traveled on

“unofficial personal travel for academic purposes” to Cuba for approximately two weeks. 

Kendall Myers indicated in Department of State documents that his travel was predicated on an

invitation from a Cuban government official after the official had given a presentation at the FSI.

Recruitment of agents by CuIS is frequently based on political convictions, ideology, or

similar cultural interests.  Kendall Myers kept a diary of his 1978 trip to Cuba which was

recovered by the FBI as part of this investigation.  In his account of his trip, Kendall Myers

expresses a strong affinity towards Cuba and its revolutionary goals, and a negative sentiment

toward “American imperialism.”  Notably, Kendall Myers stated in his Cuba diary:

Cuba is so exciting!  I have become so bitter these past few months. 
Watching the evening news is a radicalizing experience.   The abuses of
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our system, the lack of decent medical system, the oil companies and their
undisguised indifference to public needs, the complacency about the poor,
the utter inability of those who are oppressed to recognize their own
condition. . . .  Have the Cubans given up their personal freedom to get
material security?  Nothing I have seen yet suggests that  . . . . I can see
nothing of value that has been lost by the revolution. . . . [T]he revolution
has released enormous potential and liberated the Cuban spirit. 

. . . .

Everything one hears about Fidel suggests that he is a brilliant and
charismatic leader.  He exudes the sense of seriousness and
purposefulness that gives the Cuban socialist system its unique character. 
The revolution is moral without being moralistic.  Fidel has lifted the
Cuban people out of the degrading and oppressive conditions which
characterized pre-revolutionary Cuba.  He has helped the Cubans to save
their own souls.  He is certainly one of the great political leaders of our
time.  

. . . . 

Going through the [Museum of the Revolution in Havana] was a sobering
experience.   Facing step by step the historic interventions of the U.S. in to
Cuban affairs, including the systematic and regular murdering of
revolutionary leaders left me with a lump in my throat. . . .  They don=t
need to try very hard to make the point that we have been the exploiters. 
Batista was only one of the long list of murderous figures that we thrust
upon them in the name of stability and freedom. 

. . . .

There may have been some abuses under the present regime, life may be more
complicated by rationing, etc., but no one can make me believe that Cuba would
have been better off if we have defeated the revolution.  The idea is obscene.

The FBI’s investigation has revealed that approximately six months after returning from

his trip to Cuba in 1978, Kendal and Gwendolyn Myers were visited in South Dakota by the

same Cuban official who had invited Kendall Myers to visit Cuba.   During that trip to South

Dakota, the Cuba official recruited Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers to be CuIS agents. 

Thereafter, CuIS directed Kendall Myers to pursue a job at either the Department of State or the
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Central Intelligence Agency.  

Government records indicate that on September 1, 1981, Kendall Myers applied for an

analyst position with the Central Intelligence Agency.  Such a position would have provided

Kendall Myers with access to a broad range of classified national security information.

On or about May 9, 1983, Kendall Myers applied for a two-year appointment as a

Training Instructor and Chairperson for West European Studies at the Department of State’s FSI,

a position that required a TOP SECRET security clearance.  On or about April 15, 1985, Kendall

Myers was offered that two-year appointment as Training Instructor and Chairperson for West

European Studies in FSI.   When Kendall Myers received his appointment to that position he

signed an Oath of Office in which he swore that:

I will support and defend the Constitution of the United States against all enemies foreign
and domestic; that I will bear true faith and allegiance to the same; that I take this
obligation freely, without any mental reservation or purpose of evasion; and that I will
well and faithfully discharge the duties of the office on which I am about to enter.  So
help me God.

A records check has revealed that at no time did either Kendall Myers or Gwendolyn

Myers provide notification to the United States Attorney General or the Secretary of State that

either of them was acting as an agent of a foreign government as required by law.  Similarly, at

no time were Kendall Myers or Gwendolyn Myers:

a. duly accredited diplomatic or consular officers of a foreign government,
recognized by the United States Department of State;

b. officially and publicly acknowledged and sponsored officials or
representatives of a foreign government; or

c. officially and publicly acknowledged and sponsored members of the staff
of, or employees of, any such officer, official, or representative of a
foreign government.
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F. Kendall Myers’ Access to Classified United States Government Information
at the Department of State                                                                                       

“Classified” information is defined by Executive Order 12958, as amended by Executive

Order 13292, and their predecessor orders, Executive Orders 12356 and 12065, as information in

any form that: (1) is owned by, produced by or for, or under control of the United States

government; (2) falls within one or more of the categories set forth in the Order; and (3) is

classified by an original classification authority who determines that its unauthorized disclosure

reasonably could be expected to result in damage to the national security.  Where such

unauthorized release could reasonably result in “serious” damage to the national security, the

information may be classified as “SECRET.”  Where such damage could reasonably result in

“exceptionally grave” damage to the national security, the information may be classified as “TOP

SECRET.”  Access to classified information at any level may be further restricted through

compartmentation in “SENSITIVE COMPARTMENTED INFORMATION” (SCI) categories.  

Classified information, of any designation, may be shared only with persons determined

by an appropriate United States government official to be eligible for access to classified

information, who have signed an approved non-disclosure agreement and who possess a "need to

know."  If a person is not eligible to receive classified information, classified information may

not be disclosed to that person.

Kendall Myers received a TOP SECRET security clearance on or about March 27, 1985,

which was increased to TOP SECRET/SCI in or about September 1999, just prior to Kendall

Myers beginning to work full time at INR.  During his employment at INR, Kendall Myers had

daily access to classified information through computer databases and otherwise.  Kendall Myers
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maintained his TOP SECRET/SCI clearance until his retirement on October 31, 2007.  

On June 12, 1985, Kendall Myers signed a Classified Information Nondisclosure

Agreement in which he acknowledged, in part:

Intending to be legally bound, I hereby accept the obligation contained in this
Agreement in consideration of my being granted access to classified information. .
. . I understand and accept that by being granted access to classified information,
special confidence and trust shall be placed in me by the United States
Government.

I hereby acknowledge that I have received a security indoctrination concerning the
nature and protection of classified information, including the procedures to be
followed in ascertaining whether other persons to whom I contemplate disclosing
this information have been approved for access to it, and that I understand those
procedures. 

I have been advised and am aware that direct or indirect unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized retention, or negligent handling of classified information by me
could cause irreparable injury to the United States or could be used to advantage
by a foreign nation.  I hereby agree that I will never divulge [classified]
information unless I have officially verified that the recipient has been properly
authorized by the United States government to receive it, or I have been given
prior written notice of authorization from the United States Government
Department or Agency last granting me a security clearance that such disclosure is
permitted.  I further understand that I am obligated to comply with laws and
regulations that prohibit the unauthorized disclosure of classified information.

I have been advised that any breach of this Agreement may result in the
termination of any security clearance I hold; removal from any position of special
confidence and trust requiring such a clearance; or the termination of my
employment or other relationships with the Departments or Agencies that granted
my security clearance or clearances. . . .

In addition, I have been advised and am aware that any unauthorized disclosure of
classified information by me may constitute a violation or violations of United
States criminal laws, including the provisions of . . . . Section 783(b), Title 50,
United States Code . . . .

Employing substantially the same language as that quoted in the paragraph above,

Kendall Myers acknowledged these same obligations and duties in a Classified Information
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Nondisclosure Agreement which he signed on or about April 30, 1991.

At no time during his employment with the Department of State was Kendall Myers ever

authorized, directly or indirectly, to deliver, communicate, or transmit sensitive or classified

information to agents, officers, or employees of CuIS or any other hostile foreign intelligence

service. 

G. The Undercover Operation

Some of the strongest proof of Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers’ guilt arises from an FBI

undercover operation that began in April 2009.  During that operation Kendall Myers was

approached by an individual who convinced him that he was the Myers’ new CuIS handler  – an1

intelligence officer working on behalf of the CuIS whose purpose was to guide them in their

activities as agents of Cuba.  In fact, the “new handler” was an undercover source (UCS) working

for the FBI.  During the operation, both Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers met four times with the

UCS  – on April 15 , 16 , 30  and June 4, 2009 – in various hotels in Washington D.C.   Duringth th th

their meetings with the UCS – all of which were video and audio taped by the FBI – the Myers:

• accepted, and responded to, written tasking from the UCS soliciting Kendall
Myers views and opinions about various Executive Branch personnel with
responsibility for Cuba and Latin America policy;

• were trained by the UCS in the use of an e-mail account and a simple code for use
in future communications, and in the use of an encryption device for purposes of
encrypting those e-mail communications; and

• selected and used a parole or recognition phrase with the UCS that the Myers
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acknowledged they had used in the past in their meetings with CuIS
representatives.

Further, during their meetings with the UCS, the Myers discussed their previous activities

on behalf of CuIS and, in so doing, admitted to essentially every material fact the government

will need to prove them guilty of the charges they now face.  To highlight only a few of those

admissions, during the undercover operation Kendall and/or Gwendolyn Myers stated:  

• that they were recruited to work as agents of the Republic of Cuba in 1979;  

• that, thereafter, Kendall Myers obtained employment at the Department of State at
the direction of CuIS;

• that the Myers purchased a shortwave radio with money supplied by CuIS;

• that they received Morse Code shortwave radio messages from Cuba on that
radio;

• that a code name used for Gwendolyn Myers in the messages was “123;”

• that a code name used for Kendall Myers was “202;”

• that they had travel overseas in recent years approximately to meet face-to-face
with their CuIS handlers in, among other places, Trinidad and Tobago, Jamaica,
Mexico, Brazil, Ecuador, and Argentina;

• that their last face-to-face meeting with a CuIS handler was in December 2005 in
Guadalajara, Mexico; and 

• that, since that date, they had remained in contact through emails with a CuIS
representative who used the cover name of “Peter.”

Moreover, when asked by the UCS during the April 16, 2009 if he had ever delivered

information to CuIS that was classified more than SECRET, Kendall Myers replied, “oh yeah. . .

oh yeah.”  As for how the information was taken out of the Department of State, Kendall Myers

stated that he typically would either memorize the information in documents, or take notes on the
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documents, and then put the notes in his office safe.  On certain occasions, Kendall Myers would

remove classified documents from the Department of State and bring them home.  Gwendolyn

Myers would then process the documents page-by-page at home.   Kendall Myers would return

the documents back to the Department of State the next day.

As for how the Myers would communicate this information to CuIS, they indicated

during the April 30, 2009 meeting that they had transmit information through a variety of means

including, “dead-drops,”  “hand-to-hand” or “brush passes,”  “personal contacts,”  or, in one2 3 4

case, the exchange of shopping carts at a grocery store.  

Regarding convicted Cuban spy Ana Belen Montes,  Kendall Myers stated during the5

April 30, 2009 meeting with the UCS:   “I have great admiration for Ana Montes.   She’s a hero .

. . But she took too many chances . . . in my opinion. . . . She wasn’t paranoid enough.”   He

continued:  “the funny thing is, of course, some of the stuff I supplied, [Ana Montes] supplied. 
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There was duplication . . . Because I read the stuff that she gave.”  Gwendolyn Myers added,

“which is terrific because what they got was verified . . . from two different places.”

For their efforts, the Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers also admitted during the April 30,

2009 meeting with the UCS that they had received “lots of medals” from Cuba, and that they

traveled clandestinely to Cuba via Mexico in 1995 and met with Fidel Castro, who Kendall

Myers described as “wonderful,” and Gwendolyn Myers as “the most incredible statesman in a

hundred years.”   To reach Cuba, Kendall Myers stated that they had employed false travel

documents and traveled under false names.   He was “Jorge,” and Gwendolyn Myers was

“Elizabeth.” 

Further, during the April 30  meeting, the Myers described to the UCS their plan forth

escape from the United States to Cuba which they referred to as “home.”  Kendall Myers stated

that they were going to sail there on their sailboat.   Once in Cuba, Gwendolyn Myers stated that

they would live on their boat so that they – in her words -- “wouldn’t be a burden” to the Cubans. 

During the April 30  meeting, the Myers also discussed traveling clandestinely to Cuba viath

Mexico or crossing the border into Canada and then flying to Cuba.

The Myers’ admissions during the undercover operation have been corroborated by other

evidence collected during the investigation.  Found by their bed in their apartment during a court-

authorized search was the shortwave radio they described to the UCS.  It is the same make as that

used by convicted Cuban spy Ana Montes.  The FBI has also identified travel records

corroborating the Myers’ overseas operational travel to Trinidad and Tobago, Jamaica, Mexico,

Brazil, Ecuador, and Argentina.  It has identified the “Peter” emails sent to the Myers’ personal

email account, which the Grand Jury found probable cause to believe were really clandestine
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communications from a CuIS representative.  See Indictment at ¶¶ 63bb - 63ee.  Further, the FBI

located in the Myers’ apartment a sailing guide for Cuban waters,  a travel guide for Cuba, and6

books entitled The Spy’s Bedside Book and On Becoming Cuban.  

The FBI also recovered a personal calendar from Kendall Myers upon his arrest that

indicated that the Myers were planning to depart to the “Carribbean” on November 9 of this year. 

No return date is noted in the calendar.  Indeed, nothing is scheduled on the calendar after the trip

to the Carribean. 

The FBI has also identified encrypted shortwave radio messages between CuIS and a

handler of the Myers from 1996 and 1997.  Those messages referred to agents 202 and 123,

which again, the Myers admitted during the undercover operation were code names used for them

by CuIS.  Lest there be any doubt about who the Myers are, one of these encrypted handler

shortwave messages sent on or around December 18, 1996, refers to a certain agent having a

tumor on the shoulder.  During a court-authorized search of the Myers’ apartment, the FBI found

medical records that demonstrate that in late December 1996, just 10 days after CuIS made

reference to an agent having a tumor on the shoulder, Gwendolyn Myers had a medical procedure

to remove a tumor from her shoulder.

Further, found on Kendall Myers’ Department of State work computer was evidence that

from August 22, 2006 until his retirement in October 31,2007, Kendall Myers viewed in excess

of 200 intelligence reports that dealt with the subject of Cuba.  More than 75 of these made no

mention of areas for which Kendall Myers had substantive responsibility as an employee of INR. 
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The majority of those reports were marked either SECRET or TOP SECRET. 

 Department of State records also demonstrate that since at least 1983 and until 2007,

Kendall Myers made repeated false statements to government investigators responsible for

conducting background investigations which determined Kendall Myers’ continued suitability for

a TOP SECRET security clearance.  Specifically:

• On May 9, 1983, Kendall Myers falsely stated that he had never been an agent,
representative, or otherwise acted for a foreign principal;

• On November 21, 1989, he failed to list any personal or continuing contacts he
had with any communist country;

• On January 31, 1996, he falsely stated that he had no regular contact with foreign
nationals; 

• On December 29, 2000, he falsely stated that he had no contact with any foreign
governments, establishment or representatives;

• On February 13, 2001, he falsely stated that no one in his immediate family was
subject to foreign influence; that he had always acted as to indicate a preference
for the United States over foreign countries; that he knew of no other information
that could suggest a conflict of interest or embarrass him, the State Department, or
the United States; that his activities did not conflict with his security
responsibilities or create an increased risk of unauthorized disclosure of classified
information; and that he had not omitted any information from his background
investigation that could impact his suitability for employment or a security
clearance;

• On November 24, 2006, he falsely stated that he had no contact with any foreign
governments, establishments, or representatives;

• On January 9, 2007, he falsely stated that he had no relatives, including his
spouse, who were ever connected to a foreign intelligence service; that he had not
had any unauthorized association with a suspected collaborator of a foreign
intelligence service; that he had no suspicions of being a target of a foreign
intelligence service; that he had not acted so as to serve another government in
preference to the interests of the United States; that he had not deliberately
omitted, concealed, or falsified his responses to questions used to make
employment, security clearance or trustworthiness determinations; that he had not
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      These false statements are set out in detail in paragraphs 63 kk - 63 ccc of the7

Indictment. 
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provided false or misleading statements to investigators during his background
investigations; that he had not acted dishonestly or violated agency rules; that he
had not disclosed sensitive or classified information; he had not performed any
service with any foreign country; and that he had not omitted any information
from his background investigation that could impact his suitability for
employment or a security clearance.

These false statements form the basis of the government’s wire fraud charges, which are

counts 3-5 of the Indictment..     As the Grand Jury found, based on Kendall Myers’ repeated7

false statements, each of which was material to the government’s determination that he was

suitable for a TOP SECRET security clearance that was a requirement of his Department of State

job, there is probable cause to believe that he defrauded the government of its property – namely,

the salary it paid to him – every time he received his government paycheck. 

Also relevant to this Court’s adjudication of the present motion, the government’s

investigation has revealed that Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers are also people of means.  They

have at their disposal a brokerage account worth more than $511,000 as of February 28, 2009. 

Kendall Myers also has access to a retirement brokerage account worth over $100,000.  

Additionally, the investigation has confirmed that Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers own a 37-foot

seaworthy yacht that they maintain at a yacht club outside Annapolis, Maryland.  

If convicted of violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371, 951, and 1343, Kendall and Gwendolyn

Myers each face 35 years in jail.  By the government’s calculations, which factors in a 2-level

increase for Kendall Myers’ abuse of the public trust under U.S.S.G. § 3B1.3 and 2-level increase

for his repeated obstruction of government investigators during his Department of State

background investigations under U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1, the base offense level for Kendall and
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      No guideline has been expressly promulgated for a 18 U.S.C. § 951 violation.  Accordingly,8

pursuant to U.S.S.G. §2X5.1, the “most analogous offense guideline” should be applied.  The
government submits that the most analogous offense guideline is §2M3.3 (Unauthorized
Disclosure to a Foreign Government or a Communist Organization of Classified Information by a
Government Employee).  The base offense level under that section is 29.  Adding the 4-level
increase for Kendall Myers’ abuse of the public trust under U.S.S.G. § 3B1.3 and for his repeated
obstruction of government investigators during his Department of State background
investigations under U.S.S.G. § 3C1.1, the adjusted base offense level is 33.  

      The government calculates the adjusted base offense level for the wire fraud charge as9

follows: base offense level of 7 under U.S.S.G. §2B1.1(a)(1), plus a 16-level increase for a more
than $1,000,000 loss under §2B1.1(b)(1)(I), plus a 2-level increase for misappropriation of
secrets for the benefit of a foreign government or instrumentality under §2B1.1(b)(5), plus a 2-
level increase for use of sophisticated offense conduct pertaining to the execution or concealment
of the offense, plus a 2-level increase for Kendall Myers’ abuse of the public trust under § 3B1.3,
plus a 2-level increase for his repeated obstruction of government investigators during his
Department of State background investigations under § 3C1.1.

      The pretrial services report indicates that Kendall and Gwendolyn Myers have no prior10

criminal records.  While the government is still researching the matter, it appears that, at least,
Kendall Myers has a prior criminal record.   Kendall Myers was convicted in December 1976 of
negligent homicide in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia.  Under the federal
sentencing guidelines, that conviction will count towards his criminal history score as it was
imposed within 10 years of the defendant’s commencement of the instant criminal conduct on
behalf of CuIS.  See U.S.S.G.§ 4A1.2(e)(2).  

[REDACTED]
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Gwendolyn Myers’ violation of 18 U.S.C. § 951 is 33.    The base offense level for the wire fraud8

charge is 31.   The combined offense level for these separate violations after application of9

U.S.S.G. §§ 3D1.2, 3D1.3, and 3D1.4, is 35.  Assuming a Criminal History Category of I for

Gwendolyn Myers, her advisory sentencing range after conviction at trial is 168 to 210 months of

incarceration.  Assuming a Criminal History Category of at least II for Kendall Myers,  his10

advisory sentencing range would be 188 to 235 months og incarceration.  Given the gravity of

their offenses, the government would likely be seeking sentences in excess of these advisory

guideline ranges following any post-trial conviction of the defendants.
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Gwendolyn Myers is 71 years-old.  Kendall Myers is 72.  

IV. THE MAGISTRATE JUDGE’S DETENTION MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

On June 5, 2009, Magistrate Judge Facciola granted the government’s motion for a

serious risk of flight hold pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §  3142 (f)(2)(A).   On June 10, 2009, Magistrate

Judge Facciola presided over a detention hearing in this matter.   At the conclusion of the

hearing, Magistrate Judge Facciola ruled that the defendants were serious flight risks and ordered

them held without bond pending trial.  On that same day, Magistrate Judge Facciola issued a 19-

page written Detention Memorandum including the Court’s written findings of facts and reasons

for detaining the defendants.   

As to the weight of the evidence against the defendants, Magistrate Judge Facciola found

that “[t]o put it bluntly, the government’s case seems at this point insuperable. . . . The greater the

possibility of conviction, the greater the motivation to flee.”  Det. Memo. at 14-15.  As to the

nature and circumstances of the crime factor, Magistrate Judge Facciola stated:  “These

defendants . . . are each over 70 years old.  If convicted, they face incarceration for what may

very well be the rest of their lives.  That fate provides a most compelling motivation to flee and

avoid it at all costs.”  Id. at 15.   

Importantly, the Magistrate Judge’s decision also emphasized that the Myers had

“traveled extensively beyond the United States to meet with Cuban agents” with the assistance of

“assumed and false identities and documents.”    Most significantly, according to the Magistrate

Judge, the Myers had made plans “to escape” to Cuba including going through Canada or by

sailing to Cuba.  Id. at 18.  “That defendants already had made plans to escape indicates how

profound the risk of flight is.”  Id.  
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Further, Magistrate Judge Facciola noted that because the United States does not have an

extradition treaty with Cuba and, indeed, does not have diplomatic relations with Cuba, the

defendants “will not be extradited to the United States” if they “succeed in fleeing to a Cuba, a

country they have described as their home.”  Id. at 16.  Easier still, according to Magistrate Judge

Facciolo, would be for the defendants to take the “10 minute cab ride” from their residence to the

CIS on 16  Street, N.W., right here in Washington, D.C., which is the functional equivalent ofth

the Cuban Embassy.  Id. at 17.  Because of an international agreement between the United States

and Cuba which makes the CIS “inviolable,” “[o]nce [the defendants] enter that building, they

will have effectively fled from the United States.”  Id.

According to Magistrate Judge Facciola, Cuba also has a “powerful motive to assist” the

Myers to escape to Cuba “to repay their loyalty over the many years that they have been in its

service,” “to make sure that its other agents in the United States are encouraged to continue to

work for Cuba knowing that Cuba will help them to escape if they, like the defendants get

caught,” and “to prevent defendants from ever being tempted to cooperate with the United States

and expose other agents or how Cuba manages and supports them.”   Id. at 16.  According to the

Magistrate Judge, “[t]here is not a single imaginable reason why Cuba would want the

defendants to remain in the United States subject to prosecution.”   Id.  The Detention

Memorandum notes as well that “history teaches that countries have made efforts to get their

spies out of the country when they were discovered,” and cites to the example of Kim Philby, a

British double agent working for the U.S.S.R. who fled to Moscow with the assistance of the

Soviets after his espionage was discovered by the British, and Jonathan Pollard, a United States

citizen who spied for Israel and who was arrested just as he tried to seek save haven in the Israeli
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embassy.  Id. at 17-18. 

For all of these reasons, Magistrate Judge Facciola rejected the defendants’ suggestion –

repeated in the motion at bar –  that a combination of a money bond, stay away orders, the

surrender of their passports, electronic monitoring, and home detention would suffice to ensure

the defendants’ appearance for trial.  According to the Magistrate Judge, there was “no assurance

that [an electronic surveillance] device will signal authorities in sufficient time to apprehended

them before they take the 10-minute cab ride to the Cuban Interests Section.”  Id. at 19.  

Accordingly, Magistrate Judge Facciola ordered the defendants detained pending trial.

V. ARGUMENT

Other than to assert baldly that it should be overturned, the defendants’ present motion

ignores entirely Magistrate Judge Facciola’s considered Detention Memorandum and invites this

Court’s de novo review.  In so doing, nowhere do the defendants provide any challenge to the

Magistrate Judge’s conclusions (or the facts underlying them):

• that the weight of the government’s evidence is “insuperable;”

• that, if convicted, the defendants face the likely prospect that they will be
incarcerated for the rest of their lives; 

• that they have contemplated and planned for an escape from the United States to
Cuba in the past;

• that they have previously traveled clandestinely to Cuba by employing false names
and fraudulent travel documents;

• that Cuba has a powerful motivation, and the ability, to assist them in any escape
from the United States, including providing them with false travel documents as it
did in the past;

• that, if they reach Cuba, they will not be extradited back to the United States; or
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• that the CIS in Washington, D.C., provides an equally impervious and even more
readily accessible safe harbor for the defendants than Cuba.

Rather then disputing any of these salient points, the defendants offer this Court a single, plainly-

distinguishable case, United States v. Karni, 298 F. Supp.2d 129 (D.D.C. 2004), and repeat again

their suggestion, rejected by Magistrate Judge Facciola in his considered opinion, that a

combination of a money bond, stay away orders, the surrender of their passports, electronic

monitoring, and home detention will ensure their appearance for trial. 

The defendants’ reliance on United States v. Karni, 298 F. Supp.2d 129 (D.D.C. 2004) is

misplaced.  Karni involved unindicted export charges, not, as here, indicted charges that the

defendants were clandestine foreign agents of a hostile foreign intelligence service for three

decades defrauding the United States of its most sensitive classified information.   See id. at 129. 

As Magistrate Judge Facciola recognized in his Detention Memorandum, in analogous cases

where defendants have been charged with espionage on behalf of a hostile foreign power, courts

have regularly found that there are no conditions that will assure the foreign agent’s appearance. 

Det. Memo. at 14 (citing United States v. Kostadinov, 527 F. Supp. 1547, 1551 (S.D.N.Y. 1983)

and United States v. Cole, 715 F. Supp. 677, 680 (E.D. Pa. 1988)).  As the District Court

reasoned in Kostadinov: 

 Espionage differs from all other crimes in one unique, highly significant respect.   The
purpose of espionage is political: to undermine the government of the United States with
a view to its destruction.  This goal is shared by all enemies of this country.  Countries
antagonistic to the United States who would not offer asylum to murderers or thieves very
likely will open their doors to one who shares their political purpose inimical to the
United States . . . . Any country that is an enemy of the United States is a possible haven.

It is beyond doubt that a vast underground and spy network exist in this country and
around the world.   A spy would undoubtedly have access to many exit routes and to
places which would afford him sanctuary as a hero and not as a criminal.   In addition, the
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court cannot close its eyes to the concern that the . . . government [on behalf of which the
defendant was spying] knows that its employee might defect, particularly if he faces a life
imprisonment.  Such a fear could conceivably prompt the . . . government to aid the
defendant’s flight.

Kostadinov, 527 F. Supp. at 1551; see also United States v. Amirnazmi, No. 08-CR-429, 2008

WL 4925015, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 18, 2008) (defendant could exploit high level contacts in

foreign government to secure passport and flee).   As found by Magistrate Judge Facciola, each

of the concerns noted by the District Court in Kostadinov is equally applicable here.  See Det.

Memo. at 14-19.

Similarly, it should also inform this Court’s pre-trial release calculus that the Myers’ 30

years of service on behalf of a hostile foreign intelligence service demonstrates a callous

indifference to the national security of the United States.  If the Myers are permitted to escape to

Cuba, they pose a real and present danger to the United States.  During the undercover operation,

they expressed an eagerness to teach other Cuban agents and intelligence officers in Cuba about

how to successfully spy against the United States.   Specifically, Gwendolyn Myers told the

FBI’s undercover source during the April 30, 2009 meeting, that Kendall Myers would be a good

teacher at a School of Intelligence in Cuba, and then asked the UC, “so when can we come?” 

Kendall Myers agreed, saying “I could see doing . . . [t]hat I would like to do.”   If the Myers are

released and escape to Cuba, they will happily share with other Cuban operatives the knowledge

they gained over the past three decades as successful clandestine agents pitted against the United

States, a fact that should weigh strongly against their release.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g) (the

nature and seriousness of the danger to the community that would be posed by the defendant’s

release is factor in Bail Reform Act analysis).
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Further, there is significant evidence that the Myers (unlike the defendant in Karni) would

flee the United States if they were released pending trial. Unlike in Karni, where this Court has

found strong circumstantial evidence of a defendant’s interest in fleeing the jurisdiction and an

intent to do so, it has ordered pre-trial detention.  Compare United States v. Anderson, 384 F.

Supp.2d 32, 36 (D.D.C. 2005) (ordering pre-trial detention where there was “strong

circumstantial evidence of [the defendant’s] clear interest in fleeing the jurisdiction and his intent

to do so” by virtue of his use of aliases and false identities and possession of literature on how to

disguise identity and to hide assets) with Karni, 298 F. Supp. 2d at 132-33.  As found by

Magistrate Judge Facciola (and not disputed by the defense), the Myers have used false names

and documents to travel clandestinely to Cuba in the past, and have contemplated, and planned

for, escape back to Cuba either by boat or by traveling over the border to Canada and then flying

there.  Accordingly, like in Kostadinov, Cole, and Anderson, the defendants are a very serious

flight risk and should be detained pre-trial.  

Also unpersuasive is the defendants’ suggestion that a combination of a money bond, stay

away orders, the surrender of their passports, electronic monitoring, and home detention would

diminish the flight risk which even they do not seriously dispute that they pose.  As for their offer

of a bond, the government submits that, for the Myers, it has never been about the money.  The

FBI’s investigation has revealed that the Myers were not motivated by money to serve as

clandestine agents for Cuba but by communist ideology.  The wealth that they presently possess

was not given to them by Cuba but was the result of an inheritance that they received within the

last five years.  Where their choice is effectively between life in prison in this country or being
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greeted as heros in Cuba,  the decision whether to escape to Cuba will be a straightforward one11

for the Myers and leaving behind a money bond is highly unlikely to weigh heavily in their

calculus.  

The defendants’ promise to honor a Court-ordered stay aways from Cuban or from the

CIS is similarly suspect.  As Magistrate Judge Facciola recognized:

The defendants’ hostility to the United States and their admiration for Cuba is well
documented.  It is hard to imagine, with so much at stake, that they would feel any
compunction to fleeing prosecution in a country to which they seem to feel such little
loyalty.

Indeed, underlying all of their conduct on behalf of Cuba is a web of deceit.  The government’s

investigation has revealed that starting in 1983 and continuing until 2007, Kendall Myers again

and again made false statements to Department of State investigators responsible for conducting

his background investigations and determining his suitability for holding a TOP SECRET

security clearance.  Those false statements form the basis for the government’s wire fraud

charges.  They also demonstrate that the Myers are unworthy of this Court’s trust when it comes

to promises to this Court that they are willing to make in order to gain their pre-trial release. 

Similarly unpersuasive is the Myers’ suggestion that they could surrender their travel

documents to the Court as a condition of their release.  A passport is not needed to sail to Cuba. 

Moreover, the defendants’ proposal to give up their passports means little where they have

admitted using false documents to travel clandestinely to Cuba in the past.  The Myers have at
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      Only 2.6 miles separates the Myers’ apartment from the CIS which is located at 2630 1612 th
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the Government would note that it would be inequitable to permit them to purchase their own in-
home detention simply because they have the means to do so.  
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their disposal over $600,000 in the bank and the assistance of CuIS.  As they have done in the

past, they can procure the false travel documents that they need for their escape after they have

given this Court the authentic travel documents that they don’t need.  

The 10-minute taxi-cab ride  from the Myers’ apartment to the CIS also does not require12

a passport.  Indeed, the Myers’ ready-access to the CIS on 16  Street, N.W., defeats anyth

suggestion that their in-home detention combined with electronic monitoring will stop them from

fleeing from the jurisdiction of this Court.   In a 10-minute race, the Myers would not need13

much of a head-start to beat law enforcement to the safe harbor that the CIS represents.  If the

Myers made a run-for-it in the middle of the night, it is likely that they would reach the CIS long

before the violation of the conditions of their release were detected by the Pretrial Service

Agency, rather less before those violations were communicated to law enforcement.

The defendants’ effort to overcome this problem by suggesting that their house arrest

could be served at a location “at least 20 miles from the Cuban Interest Section” is curious.  Any

case wherein the defendants concede that they may need a buffer-zone between themselves and a

safe harbor outside the jurisdiction of this Court so as to give the FBI a “fighting chance” to catch

them if they decide to flee, is plainly not one wherein pre-trial release should be permitted.  A

defendant’s compliance with the Bail Reform Act is not a game.  Nor, as Magistrate Judge

Facciola recognized, should it impose on the FBI the “draconian burden” of 24-hour surveillance. 

Case 1:09-cr-00150-RBW     Document 31      Filed 06/29/2009     Page 27 of 28



-28-

Det. Memo. at 19.

The Myers are clandestine Cuban agents who have contemplated escape from the United

States in the past.  They continue to contemplate it even in their opposition to the Magistrate

Judge’s detention order.  As Magistrate Judge Facciola found, the Myers are “extraordinary”

flight risks and should be held pending trial.   Det. Memo. at 19.   The defendants’ motion

seeking their pre-trial release should be denied. 

Respectfully submitted,

CHANNING D. PHILLIPS

Acting United States Attorney

By:              /s/                                                        
 G. MICHAEL HARVEY

Assistant United States Attorney

D.C. Bar #447465

U.S. Attorney’s Office

National Security Section

555 Fourth Street, N.W. (11  Floor) th

Washington, D.C.  20530

Tel: 202-305-4155

Michael.Harvey2@usdoj.gov

_________/s/_________________________

CLIFFORD I. RONES

MD Bar No.  8506010284

Trial Attorney/Counterespionage Section

Department of Justice

1400 New York Avenue, N.W. (9  Floor)th

Washington, D.C. 20005

Tel:  202-514-1124

Clifford.Rones@usdoj.gov
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

:
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :

: Criminal No. 09-150 (RBW)
v. :

:
WALTER KENDALL MYERS, :
 a/k/a Agent 202 :

:
and :

:
GWENDOLYN STEINGRABER MYERS, :
a/k/a Agent 123 and Agent E-634 :

:
Defendants :

:

ORDER

The Court having reviewed the defendants’ Motion for Revocation or Amendment of the

Magistrate’s Detention Order, the United States opposition thereto, and the entire record herein,

it is hereby

ORDERED that the defendants’ Motion for Revocation or Amendment of the

Magistrate’s Detention Order is DENIED; and it is 

FURTHER ORDERED that for the reasons stated in Magistrate Judge Facciola’s June

10, 2009, Detention Memorandum, and based on the Findings of Fact stated therein, I conclude

that there are no reasonable conditions that could be set that would assure the defendants’

appearance for trial; and it is

FURTHER ORDERED that the defendants, Walter Kendall Myers and Gwendolyn

Steingraber Myers, are to be detained pending trial.
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Signed on this the _________ day of July, 2009.

______________________________________
Honorable Reggie B. Walton
United States District Judge
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